#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### SHIRLEY BOLTON AND VICKIE NEAL

VS

NO. 2010-CA-00379-SCT

#### POWE TIMBER COMPANY, ET. AL.

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned Counsel of Record certifies that the following persons have an interest and outcome of this case. These representations are made in order for the Justices of the Supreme Court and Judges of the Court of Appeals to evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Shirley Bolton and Dr. Vickie Neal, Plaintiffs- Appellants
- Walter G. Watkins, Jr., Esq. Joshua J. Metcalf, Esquire Forman Perry Watkins Krutz & Tardy 200 South Lamar Street City Centre Building, Suite 100 Jackson, MS 39201-4099

## I. ISSUES AND QEUSTIONS PRESENTED TO THE COURT

- A. Whether the Trial Court erred in deciding that the Appellants could be bound by the Settlement Agreement?
- B. Whether the Releases signed by the Appellants are void and unenforceable?
- C. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Dismissing the Appellant's action with Prejudice?
- D. Whether the records of the Ronald Morgan Action are relevant to the Appellant's appeal and therefore should be unsealed?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. INTRODUCTION

When properly presented, it is believed that this Honorable Court will be able to clearly view the distinctive and substantial underlying events that give cause to the Appellants grievances and see the gravamen of the argument. As well, when properly presented, this Brief will go farther than merely presenting the Appellant's arguments. The Appellants are of the belief that this brief will also present a matter of somewhat first impression, *albeit* this impression is underscored and solidly supported by former opinions of this Honorable Court, the United States Supreme Court and the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. When these various authorities of law are combined and properly placed at the foot of the Appellant's argument it absolutely tilts the scales heavily in favor of the Appellants.

For this reason the Appellants would respectfully request the Honorable Justices of this

Mississippi Supreme Court review the matters presented herein with great care and concern. The Appellants make this request due to the fact the matters that will be addressed are of grave concern for at least two reasons: 1). the redress of grievances; and 2). the right of access by all citizens to the Courts.

This fundamental right that is held by the Appellants herein is further underscored and supported by additional fundamental and absolute rights. These fundamental rights, unconditionally and absolutely, ensure that no person shall be debarred from prosecuting or defending any civil cause for or against him or herself, before any tribunal in the state, by him or herself, or counsel or both<sup>1</sup>.

These are constitutional rights guaranteed to citizens of these United States. It must not be forgotten that the Bill of Rights of both the Federal Constitution and the Mississippi Constitution ensures that all courts shall be open; and every person for an injury done him in his lands, goods, person, or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, and right and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

#### **B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

This Appeal arises from a case that began in December of 2001 where the Appellants were named as plaintiffs along with various other individuals in a suit for damages arising from injuries sustained from the exposure of treated wood products. On December 6, 2001, the Appellants along with other plaintiffs filed suit in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Jasper County, MS.,

Referencing; The First, Fifth, Ninth, and § 1, of The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Article 3 § 14, Article 3, § 24, Article 3, § 25, and Article 3, § 32 of the Mississippi Constitution.

at Cause No.: 11-0140<sup>2</sup>. Texas Attorney Dana G. Kirk, former counsel for the Appellants along with Mississippi Attorney Rance Ulmer signed the complaint for the plaintiffs and caused the suit to be filed. (Rec. Vol. I at 33).

The Appellees herein were identified as defendants along with Powe Timber Co., et. al. The suit was filed in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Jasper County, and was later amended and re-filed in July of 2002. Acting upon a motion brought by the Appellees to sever and transfer venue for roughly 1,300 of the individual claims pursuant to Rule 82(d) Miss. R. Civ.P, the Court severed the claims.

On February 24, 2005 the Circuit Court of Jasper County issued an order granting Appellee's Motion to Sever and Transfer 1,291 of the plaintiff's claims to the Circuit Court of Forrest County. In issuing the order, the Circuit Court of Jasper County found that venue was improper in that jurisdiction and all, but six, of the plaintiffs' claims were transferred to the venue in the Circuit Court under the jurisdiction of Forrest County, MS. In its Motion before the Jasper County Circuit Court, the Appellees argued that venue in Jasper County was "*so blatantly improper*." The record is unclear as to whether the Appellant's's attorney raised any objections to the Appellee's Motion, and the Motion to Sever and Transfer was subsequently granted by the Trial Judge in Jasper County, MS. (Rec. Vol. IV at 561; ¶ (1.) & (2.)). The claims of the Appellants herein were among those cases that were severed and transferred to the Circuit Court of Forrest County, MS. Sometimes thereafter the Appellees moved the Circuit Court in Forrest County for an order to enforce the severance order issued by Judge Evans as discussed *supra*, severing the individual claims so that individual cause

The Honorable Robert Evans (deceased) of Jasper County was assigned to preside over the matter.

numbers could be applied to each case.

On December 5, 2006, the Appellees filed a Motion to Dismiss the claims of the plaintiffs in Forrest County Circuit Court. In its motion the Appellee's main argument<sup>3</sup> was built around <u>Harolds</u> <u>Auto Parts, Inc., vs. Mangialardi</u>, 889 So.2d 493 (Miss. 2004). (Rec. Vol. IV at 582-615) In it's Motion the Appellees point out yet again the severance and transfer of those claims that were sent to Forrest County, acknowledging that each claim was to be viewed independently, apart from the others. However, the Appellees came later on in the proceedings and now emphatically insist that the claims of the Appellants were in fact co-mingled with other claims and ultimately disposed of as discussed further *infra*.

On March 21, 2007, the Appellees filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and Counsel for the Appellants was discharged on March 29, 2007. After the discharge of Counsel, the Appellants were informed by another claimant that a settlement had been reached in January of 2007. This came as a surprise to the Appellants because prior to his discharge they were not informed by Counsel that a settlement had been reached. The Appellants were however informed that their Counsel would not object to summary judgment made by the Appellees because it had been determined that they suffered no actionable cause of action from their exposure. This dismissal never materialized.

In citing *Mangialardi*, the Appellees actually give credence to the Appellants arguments; specifically the argument that they cannot be grouped into a pool along with other plaintiffs. However, that is exactly what position the Appellees have taken. Notwithstanding the fact this most certainly was not a class action in the State Court but instead individual claims, where the rules and our law direct that each individual plaintiff is the master of his/her own complaint; the language found in the Appellees own pleadings, and its arguments presented through its attorneys, contend otherwise. The Appellees are asking this Court to find that neither the rules nor the law applies to the Appellants, much less to them.

As a result, the Appellants were clueless about any settlement reached in their claims against the Appellees. The Appellants were not informed of the material terms of the settlement by their attorney and their attorney did not seek or receive their consent or authority to enter into the Settlement Agreement. The Appellants were well aware of several things that are pertinent to this date in time; (1.) despite numerous requests for information regarding their case from former counsel, Dana Kirk<sup>4</sup>, they had no knowledge of any settlement reached in their toxic tort claims; (2.) there had been no consent, and/or authority given by the Appellants to Dana Kirk, or anyone else for that matter to settle their claims; (3.) no amount regarding settlement had ever been provided to them; and specifically, (4.) that their toxic tort claims had been severed and removed from the venue and jurisdiction of the Jasper County Circuit Court and transferred to the venue and jurisdiction of the Forrest County Circuit Court upon a motion made by the Appellees who described venue in Jasper County for the Appellants claims "Blatantly Improper".

Furthermore, the Appellants were completely aware of the fact they had no interest, nor were otherwise vested into any other form of civil litigation whatsoever in Jasper County. This point is

4

On March 29, 2007 the Appellants fired former counsel Dana Kirk. The contract between the Appellants and Kirk did not contain an association clause allowing Kirk to enlist the services of other counsel and therefore it goes without saying the termination of Kirk also included any other attorney Kirk had associated. The association, however, was not allowed pursuant to the language of the attorney-client contract. This would include Collen Clark, a non-attorney in the State of Mississippi, who was not only want of a license to practice law in this State, the record is absolutely devoid of any application for pro hac vice made by him or an order approving it. This information is critical in the case at hand because it was Collen Clark who appeared to sign the Memorandum of Understanding for the settlement between the parties, where Clark signed on behalf of the Plaintiffs. This was done even though he was not only was lacking authority to practice law in this State, he was specifically lacking authority to represent the Appellants, much less enter an agreement on their behalf.

essential because it relates to how more confusion was created by the form of notice that was provided to the Appellants. The Appellants, as of this day, have not received formal notice of the settlement of their claims or the material terms of the settlement.

The Appellants received documents from the Special Master that was designated as a notice of a settlement and notice that a fund had been established for it in Jasper County. The notice came in an envelope that referenced a drug settlement fund.

The Appellants again, were well aware of the fact that they were not involved in, nor otherwise vested into any other litigation, much less any other drug litigation for that matter. The Appellants properly addressed their concerns with the Circuit Court of Forrest County, which was the proper venue and proper jurisdiction; according to the Appellees who were aware that the Appellant's claims had been transferred to Forrest County Circuit Court by Judge Evans' February 5, 2005 order.

On March 21, 2007, the Appellees filed a Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to Rule 56, Miss. R. Civ. P., in the Circuit Court of Forrest County, MS. (Rec. Vol. V at 619-622). In its Motion the Appellees argued *inter alia*, no genuine issues of material fact remained for a trial in the cause; no evidence existed that proved liability or could prove liability, and basically the claims of the plaintiffs in the Forrest County cases fail as a matter of law.

In a footnote the Appellees aver that pursuant to the severance order there were 1,355 individual cases in the Forrest County Circuit Court that summary judgment was being sought against. (Rec. Vol. V at 619 Fn.(1.)) The claims of the Appellants were included among those the Appellees were seeking summary judgment<sup>5</sup> against.

As discussed further infra, the Appellees were in the Forrest County Circuit Court on March 21,

On July 31, 2007, the Circuit Court of Forrest County granted the Appellees Motion for Summary Judgment filed March 21, 2007. In the order the Trial Court dismissed all of the plaintiff's claims, except for the claims of the Appellants, finding that the Appellants did have an actionable interest at law against the Appellees. (Rec. Vol. V at 664)

The Appellees further argued in its Motion that until individual case numbers were assigned to the individual claims, it lacked the appropriate cause numbers to file motions for summary judgments<sup>6</sup> against the now 1,355 individual claims that were such as a result of being severed and transferred to Forrest County. The Appellee's argument concludes with it asserting how other Courts throughout Mississippi have required separate filings in other mass tort actions which have been

2007 seeking summary judgment against the claims of the severed and transferred plaintiffs, which included the claims of the Appellants. However, it is later revealed by the Appellees that a settlement was purportedly reached in the matter on January 18, 2007. This information regarding the settlement that was later revealed in a response by the Appellees to a motion filed by the Appellants was not introduced in the argument for summary judgment. What is strikingly odd about the language in this motion is not what is written in it, but what is left out. The fact the Appellees make no reference whatsoever to the January 18, 2007 settlement agreement in its motion for summary judgment. The fact that the motion for summary judgment was brought by the Appellees more than two months later mind you, is not only interesting, but also highly suspecting and even more so questionable. However, this is not the only suspect and questionable act performed by the Appellees in this matter. What is discussed and revealed *infra* in this brief causes the eye of caution and concern to remain open and ever widening as each factual detail is revealed.

On May 15, 2007, Dana Kirk, on behalf of the plaintiffs filed a Response to Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. In his response Kirk made it clear that he was not speaking for the Appellants. In his response Kirk asserts *inter alia*, that the plaintiffs could not provide a valid argument against summary judgment. Kirk asserts the plaintiffs have no valid argument to respond with in light of the opinion issued by the Mississippi Supreme Court in answering a certified question from the Fifth Circuit in the matter of *Paz v. Brush Engineered Materials, Inc.*, 949 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2007). (Rec. Vol. IV at Pg. 561  $\P(3.)$ ) Kirk concludes his response and avers to the Forrest County Circuit Court that the plaintiffs cannot in good faith oppose the motion for summary judgment. (Rec Vol. IV at Pg. 562).

severed based on improper venue<sup>7</sup>. The Appellees went on to state that the claims of a number of the individual plaintiffs had already been severed and transferred to Forrest County, where venue there was found to be proper by the Jasper County Circuit Court. (Rec. Vol. IV at 560-576).

On March 29, 2007, The Appellants were told that Appellant's claims were being submitted for dismissal on Summary Judgment at a hearing that was scheduled for the next day, March 30, 2007 in the Circuit Court of Forrest County. Attorney Kirk informed the Appellants that he was not going to oppose Summary Judgment. Upon hearing this information, the Appellants dismissed Attorney Dana Kirk and became Pro Se' litigants. The Appellants notified the Court of the dismissal of Dana Kirk and properly acted upon that information and belief and filed several motions in the Circuit Court of Forrest County. The Appellants filed a motion seeking an Injunction to delay the disbursement of settlement proceeds and a motion to vacate the order by Judge Evans for establishment of Qualified Settlement Fund and Appointing a Special Master and Claims Administrator and Sealing of Confidential Settlement Information. In their Motion the Appellants<sup>8</sup> averred to the Court *inter alia*, that the settlement had been entered into without the knowledge, consent or notification of Appellant Shirley A. Bolton a party to this action. (Rec. Vol. V at 625 ¶(2.)).

7

On May 26, 2005, in a reply to a response filed by the plaintiffs that had been transferred to the Forrest County Circuit Court, the Appellees again assert the issue of venue. "While Plaintiffs apparently desire to avoid the consequences of their mass filing in an improper venue, the simple fact is that on February 24, 2005 and March 22, 2005, Judge Evans severed the claims in the above referenced matters, (citing the claims transferred to Forrest County) and transferred them to this Court pursuant to Rule 82(d) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. (Rec. Vol. IV at Pg. 578).

Appellant, Dr. Vickie E. Neal, properly and timely filed an identical motion seeking an injunction along with Appellant Bolton. Dr. Neal also properly advised the Forrest County Circuit Court that any settlement that had been entered into on their behalf by Kirk was done so improperly and without

In addition, the Appellants averred that they were clueless of any of the terms of the agreement, they were explicitly clear in their Motion that they were never given their lawfully afforded option to reject<sup>9</sup> the Appellee's offer. The Appellant's Motion never advanced to a dispositive end, nor was it apparently given any other consideration by the Trial Court. (Rec. Vol. V at 625-634)

On May 11, 2007, the Appellees filed a response to the Appellant's Motion for an Injunction to Delay Disbursement of the Settlement Proceeds. The Appellee's cornerstone of its argument was that "Plaintiff's counsel, on behalf of Plaintiff, agreed to settle this and all related claims against Joslyn, and all of the Plaintiff's claims<sup>10</sup> against Joslyn are subject to the binding agreement entered into by the parties on January 18, 2007." (Rec. Vol. V at 636  $\P(1.)$ ).

her knowledge, consent, or notification. (Rec. Vol. at Pg. 629  $\P(2.)$ ).

9

The Appellants use the phrase "*Opt Out*" in their Motion when they refer to not being afforded the right to possibly reject any offer of settlement made by the Appellees. Opt out is an option available to plaintiffs in a class action suit. Mississippi Law does not allow class action suits in the State Court level. See; *Janssen Pharmaceutica Inc.*, *v. Armond*, 866 So.2d 1092, 1102 (Miss. 2004).

10

In the Pro Sé pleadings filed by the Appellants with the Trial Court, it is admitted that much of the arguments are directed at the fraudulent acts and heinous conduct of former counsel Dana Kirk. However the Appellants were not the only plaintiffs that did not agree to this settlement, and most certainly were not the only plaintiffs to fire Kirk as counsel. This relates to the point the Appellants continue to hammer on, and that is they did not agree to any settlement agreement, and based upon the undisputable fact the claims had been severed into individual claims, each settling plaintiff would have had to agree. This was not a case where a Bellwether runs the entirety of the proceedings, and the Appellees know this fact, thus it is the Appellees not sought to seek shelter in a house covered with a paper thin facade of defense, but instead braved the weather and attended to its liabilities this matter would not be where it is at today.

The Appellees argued that the January 18, 2007 agreement<sup>11</sup> that was entered into by and between the Defendants and their former attorney was binding upon the Appellants because it was entered into by their former counsel on their behalf<sup>12</sup>. The only evidence that was provided in support of the Appellee's position to the Trial Court in it's response, outside of its written arguments, was a copy of the order from the Circuit Court of Jasper County. The order established the Qualified Settlement Fund (QSF) that purportedly was borne from the January 18, 2007 agreement, *albeit* the order that was attached is barely legible.

The Appellees also erroneously asserted in its response that the Appellants admit the "Joslyn Defendant's (Appellee) and Plaintiff's (Appellants) former counsel entered into a settlement agreement in the above referenced case." (Rec. Vol. V at 636 §(1.)). The Appellants did not admit that Kirk as their attorney entered into a binding agreement, but instead were unambiguously clear and profoundly explicit in the fact that the agreement was entered into without their knowledge, consent and/or authorization.

11

12

Although it is admitted that the Appellants, who were representing themselves Pro Sé, used somewhat of a shotgun approach in their Motion for Injunction, a bullet was amongst the scatter. In their Motion, the Appellants properly noticed the Trial Court in Forrest County that this agreement was not, and could not be entered into by Kirk on their behalf. The Appellants asserted that not only did they have no knowledge of the agreement, much less its terms, they most certainly did not consent to it being entered into, nor did they authorize Kirk, or anyone else for that matter to do the same. Thus, the Appellants promptly and properly repudiated the validity of the agreement.

More confusion arises from the purported agreement reached on January 18, 2007 where later on it is found in various documents of communication between the Appellants and the Appellees that the agreement was reached on January 30, 2007. However, the record is devoid of any pleadings that reference this date. The Appellants understand that this is a matter for the Trial Court to address, but show it here along with the various other reasons that conclusively show that the Trial Court erred in dismissing the Appellants claims, especially with prejudice.

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