IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2010-TS-00379

VICKIE E. NEAL AND SHIRLEY A. BOLTON

APPELLANTS

VS.

JOSLYN MANUFACTURING COMPANY AND DANAHER CORPORATION

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES JOSLYN MANUFACTURING AND DANAHER CORPORATION

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Joshua J. Metcalf, MSB Walter G. Watkins, III, MSB FORMAN PERRY WATKINS KRUTZ & TARDY LLP City Centre Building 200 S. Lamar Street, Suite 100 Jackson, MS 39201-4099 Telephone: (601) 960-8600

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

VICKIE E. NEAL AND SHIRLEY A. BOLTON

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-TS-00379

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The only issue for the Court to decide is whether the trial court properly dismissed the claims of Appellants, when Appellants had signed full and final releases of all claims against Defendants, when Defendants had funded a Qualified Settlement Fund, and when Appellants' only objection to the dismissal at the trial court level was that the action should be stayed pending the resolution of Appellants' legal malpractice arbitration action against their former counsel. The issues raised by Appellants' Brief have either been waived, have previously been decided by this Court, or are otherwise without merit.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Only Issue for the Court to Decide is Whether the Trial Court Erred in Dismissing Appellants' Claims When Appellants had Released all Claims Against Defendants, When Defendants had Funded a Qualified Settlement Fund, and When Appellants' Only Objection to the Dismissal at the Trial Court Level was that the Action Should be Stayed Pending Resolution of Appellants' Legal Malpractice Arbitration Action Against Their Former Counsel

As discussed at length above, Appellants spent months (from March 2007 through the end of October 2007) consulting with their attorneys about the effects of the settlement agreement that had been entered into by Kirk and the other attorneys they terminated in March of 2007. After this lengthy period, Appellants determined that the proper course of action was to

release all claims they had against Defendants, submit their claims to the Qualified Settlement Fund, and to pursue a legal malpractice action against their former counsel.

When Defendants' Motion to Dismiss was presented to Judge Helfrich, Appellants did not dispute that Defendants had fully funded the Qualified Settlement Fund or that the Appellants had signed releases of any and all claims they had against Defendants. T. 22 and 31; Appellees' R.E. Tabs 3 and 4. To the contrary, as is demonstrated by their written responses to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and the statements made on the record at the hearings Judge Helfrich conducted on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, Appellants' only substantive objection was that they were engaged in an arbitration in Washington, DC and that they believed that the Federal Arbitration Act prevented a Mississippi court from taking any action on their claims against Defendants.

After giving Appellants four months to seek new counsel and to respond to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, after reviewing the releases signed by Appellants, and after hearing that there was no dispute that Defendants had fully funded the Qualified Settlement Fund and that Appellants' funds were being held for them in the registry of the Jasper County Circuit Court, Judge Helfrich signed an order dismissing their claims with prejudice. R. 684; Appellees' R.E. Tab 2. Judge Helfrich also rejected Appellants' argument that the Federal Arbitration Act had any applicability to Appellants' underlying toxic tort claim. Appellants have not questioned the correctness of Judge Helfrich's ruling on the applicability of the Federal Arbitration Act.

Because Appellants did not dispute that they had released all claims against Defendants, that Defendants had funded the Qualified Settlement Fund, or that Appellants' funds were being held for them in the registry of the Jasper County Circuit Court, and because Appellants' Federal

Arbitration Act objections were without merit, Judge Helfrich was correct in dismissing Appellants' claims with prejudice.

B. Appellants' Questions Presented are a Distraction from the Issue Discussed Above

1. Appellants' First Issue was Literally Never Considered by the Trial Court

Appellants first raise the question of "Whether the Trial Court erred in deciding that the Appellants could be bound by the Settlement Agreement." This issue is completely irrelevant to the Court's consideration of the matters presented on appeal. It is clear from Appellants' Brief that the "Settlement Agreement" they are referring to is the January 18, 2007 settlement agreement. See Appellants' Brief at 21, 22-24. The issue of the enforceability of the January 18, 2007 agreement was not, however, presented to Judge Helfrich for review, and Judge Helfrich never expressed an opinion as to the enforceability of that agreement. In fact, the moment Appellants signed full and final releases of all claims against Defendants and agreed to submit their claims to the Qualified Settlement Fund, the issue of whether the January 18, 2007 agreement was enforceable became moot.

After giving Appellants four months to seek new counsel and to respond to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, after reviewing the releases signed by the Bolton Sisters, and after hearing that there was no dispute that Defendants had fully funded the Qualified Settlement Fund and that the Bolton Sisters' funds were being held for them in the registry of the Jasper County Circuit Court, Judge Helfrich signed an order dismissing their claims with prejudice. R. 684; Appellees' R.E. Tab 2. Because the issue of the enforceability of the January 18, 2007 agreement was never presented to Judge Helfrich, and because he never issued any opinion as to

the enforceability of that agreement, there is literally no ruling on this issue from which to appeal.

2. Appellants' Second Issue has been Waived and is Completely Without Merit

Appellants next raise the issue of whether the releases they signed in October of 2007 are "void and unenforceable" due to allegations of fraud and "the validity of the construction of the releases themselves." See Appellants' Brief at 22. Mississippi courts have continually held that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Albert v. Allied Glove Corp., 944 So.2d 1, 7 (Miss. 2006) (holding that a party cannot raise a new issue on appeal "since doing so prevents the trial court from first having the opportunity to address this error"); see also Crowe v. Smith, 603 So.2d 301, 305 (Miss. 1992) and Cooper v. Lawson, 264 So.2d 890, 891 (Miss. 1972). As discussed above, Appellants never raised the issue of the enforceability of the releases they had signed – either to allege irregularities in the procurement of the releases or to question the construction of the releases. A review of the hearing transcripts demonstrates that Appellants did not raise any of these issues to the trial court. In Albert v. Allied Glove Corp., this Court barred certain issues from being raised on appeal after noting that the record did not demonstrate that the issues had been raised at the trial court level. 944 So.2d at 7. As it did in Albert v. Allied Glove Corp., this Court should not consider any issues relating to the enforceability of the releases Appellants signed because they are being raised for the first time on appeal.

a. Even if Appellants' Fraud and Duress Claims are not Waived, Such Claims are Absurd

Even if the issues relating to the enforceability of Appellants' releases had not been waived, Appellants' claims of fraud and duress are absurd. Throughout the months leading up to their execution of the releases, Appellants were represented by some of the best attorneys in the

state. James Dukes, Sr. has practiced for more than 40 years, and his reputation speaks for itself. The law firm of Pigott, Reeves and Johnson was also eminently qualified. Brad Pigott is a former United States Attorney, Cliff Johnson is a former Assistant United States Attorney, and Carlton Reeves has recently become a United States District Judge for the Southern District of Mississippi. To borrow a favorite phrase from Appellants' Brief, "it is beyond peradventure" to think that Appellants were defrauded or improperly coerced into signing releases during the time they were represented by the attorneys listed above.

If Appellants had raised the issue of fraud and duress to Judge Helfrich, Defendants would have presented numerous pieces of evidence to the court to demonstrate the impossibility of such a contention, including: 1) evidence of months of ongoing discussions with counsel for Appellants, including Dukes and Pigott, 2) numerous emails between Appellants' counsel and counsel for Defendants on October 18, 2007, including the emails and signed acknowledgement on behalf of Appellant Shirley Bolton referenced in Section II.A above, and 3) written correspondence from Pigott dated October 29, 2007 enclosing signed copies of all releases, admitting that his clients had been bound to a settlement with Defendants, and recognizing that "our clients' only remedies for that conduct are through continuing their claims against those attorneys, and not through continuing the pursuit of their full judicial rights against Joslyn." Because the allegations of fraud and coercion were never raised to the trial court, Defendants never provided any of these materials to the court.

The evidence that actually is contained in the record leaves no doubt that Appellants were represented by capable counsel throughout the months leading up to the time they signed the releases at issue, and that they received notice of Defendants' actions. The Third Amended Notice of Hearing stamp-filed July 13, 2007 shows that Dukes received notice of Defendants'

hearing on their motion for summary judgment (R3. 2; Appellees' R.E. Tab 6), and the transcript from the July 30, 2007 summary judgment hearing reveals that Dukes was present on behalf of the entire Bolton family. T. 5; Appellees' R.E. Tab 7, 000037. Further, the Notice of Hearing stamp-filed September 27, 2007 was served on both Dukes and Pigott. R3. 5; Appellees' R.E. Tab 8).

Thus, even if Appellants' allegations of fraud and duress have not been waived, they are patently without merit.

b. Appellants' Releases are Valid and Enforceable Under Mississippi Contract Law

Appellants' contractual arguments, like their arguments on fraud and duress, are waived because they were not presented to the trial court in the first instance. Even if the Court considers the merits of Appellants' contractual arguments, however, Appellants still lose. It is well-settled under Mississippi law that "compromises are favored by law." *McCorkle v. Hughes*, 244 So.2d 386 (Miss. 1971). When examining any type of settlement agreement, a contract law analysis is appropriate. *Chantey Music Publ'g., Inc. v. Malaco, Inc.*, 915 So.2d 1052, 1055-56 (Miss. 2005); see also *Newell v. Hinton*, 556 So.2d 1037, 1042 (Miss. 1990). When Appellants, at the advice of their counsel, executed the releases at issue, a contract was entered into between Appellants and Defendants. It is a basic principle of the law of contracts that the essential elements of a contract are offer, acceptance, and consideration. *Whiting v. Univ. of S. Miss.*, 2011 WL 1168147, at *5 (Miss. 2011) (citing *Gatlin v. Methodist Med. Ctr., Inc., 772* So.2d 1023, 1029 n. 3 (Miss. 2000)). All three elements are present in this case. Defendants offered to withdraw their summary judgment hearing and to fund the Qualified Settlement Fund if Appellants would sign releases of all claims against Defendants. Appellants accepted this offer and indicated their acceptance by signing the releases at issue. Further, the releases themselves

provide that in exchange for the right to submit their claims to the Special Master for consideration, Appellants would dismiss their cases against Defendants. Defendants funded the Qualified Settlement Fund and the Special Master allocated funds to Appellants. Without a doubt, the releases in question satisfy the requirements of Mississippi contract law.⁴

3. Appellants' Third Issue is Duplicative of Issues One and Two

Appellants' third contention is merely a restatement of their first two contentions, and is without merit for the reasons discussed above.

4. Appellants' Fourth Issue was Decided by this Court on January 20, 2011

Appellants have continually sought and been denied permission to unseal confidential documents associated with the Qualified Settlement Fund located in Jasper County. This issue is also without merit. Appellants first raised this issue in 2010, when they asked this Court to expand the record to include numerous documents that Judge Helfrich never considered in dismissing Appellants' claims. This Court referred the issue of the proper content of the record to Judge Helfrich, who on September 8, 2010, after reviewing the parties' briefs on the issue, found that:

[f]or its grant of the defendants' motion to dismiss, this court had no cause to look behind the undisputed fact that the plaintiffs had executed releases of all claims that formed the basis for this action. Consequently, documents filed in and retained by another court that were in no way considered by this court in rendering its decision are not now properly a part of the record of this case.

R2. 194-95. On September 21, 2010, Appellants filed an Amended Motion to Correct the Designation of the Record and to Unseal Settlement and Case Documents in the Jasper County Circuit Court Currently Under Seal in Support of Appealants [sic] Appeal, but on January 20, 2011, this Court denied Appellants' motion. Because both this Court and the trial court have

⁴ What is truly outrageous is that Appellants argue to this Court that the releases are void and unenforceable while simultaneously attempting to collect their settlement funds in Jasper County.

previously determined that these records are not properly part of the record on appeal, this issue is without merit.

C. Sanctions are Appropriate Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 38

Defendants have made numerous requests that Appellants dismiss this frivolous appeal, however, Appellants have refused and Defendants have been forced to incur significant expenses in responding to this appeal. Rule 38 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that this Court may award "just damages" including attorneys' fees and other expenses when the Court determines that an appeal is frivolous. Pursuing an appeal while simultaneously collecting settlement funds⁵ paid by a defendant is the epitome of frivolity and bad faith. Taking into account the expenses incurred by Defendants in defending this appeal and the deplorable nature of Appellants' actions in pursuing this appeal while simultaneously claiming their settlement funds, damages pursuant to Rule 38 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure are appropriate.

V. CONCLUSION

Defendants resolved this matter with Appellants more than three years ago and funded a Qualified Settlement Fund which was fully processed by the Special Master nearly two years ago. While Appellants may be unhappy with the conduct of their former attorneys, the settlement amount awarded to them by the Special Master, or the outcome of their legal malpractice arbitration, the bottom line is that Appellants released any and all claims they had against Defendants, and the majority of the issues raised by Appellants in the instant appeal were never presented to the trial court in the first instance. Furthermore, Appellants have actually

It is important to note that these funds had remained untouched by Appellants for several years. On numerous occasions, Special Master Cothren attempted to disburse these funds to Appellants. Only upon the trial court's dismissal of their claims, did Appellants request their funds be disbursed.

filed pleadings to claim the settlement funds that were interplead by the Special Master into the registry of the Jasper County Circuit Court. Defendants deserve to be able to finally put this litigation behind them. Appellants' appeal should be denied and damages should be awarded against Appellants pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 38.